RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-28-2011 SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

MARK KLEMM and JEANNE KLEMM,

Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners,

Appeal No. 2009AP002784

v. Circuit Court Case No. 2008CV000432

AMERICAN TRANSMISSION COMPANY, LLC,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS-PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Appeal From The Circuit Court Of Marathon County, The Honorable Gregory Huber, Presiding

Shane J. VanderWaal (SBN 1020149) PIETZ, VANDERWAAL, STACKER & ROTTIER, S.C.

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners, Mark Klemm and Jeanne Klemm

P.O. Box 1343 Wausau, WI 54402-1343 Phone: (715) 845-9211 Fax: (715) 842-9317

E-mail: vanderwaal@pvrslaw.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) require litigation expenses to be awarded to a property owner who conveys property in lieu of condemnation pursuant to Wis. Stat. §32.06(2a), with no jurisdictional offer issued under Wis. Stat. §32.06(3), followed by a condemnation commission just compensation award which was not appealed and otherwise meets all other requirements of the statute?

Answer by the circuit court: Yes

Answer by the court of appeals: No

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented requires an interpretation of statutory language applied to undisputed facts. The interpretation of statutes is reviewed independently of lower court decisions, but this Court may benefit from the analysis of the lower courts. *Spiegelberg v. State of Wisconsin and Department of Transportation*, 2006 WI 75, ¶8, 291 Wis.2d 601, 717 N.W.2d 641; *See also Star Direct, Inc. v. Dal Pra*, 2009 WI 76, ¶18, 319 Wis.2d 274, 767 N.W.2d 898, *Warehouse II, LLC v. DOT*, 2006 WI 62, ¶4, 291 Wis.2d 80, 715 N.W.2d 213.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves the taking of an easement pursuant to Wis. Stat. §32.06 by the Defendant-Appellant, American Transmission Company, LLC ("ATC") for the purpose of constructing an electric transmission line across the property of the Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners, Mark Klemm and Jeanne Klemm ("Klemms"). The question presented is whether the Court of Appeals, District III erred in construing Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) as requiring the condemnor to make a jurisdictional offer as a precondition for awarding litigation expenses to condemnee.

ATC initiated the condemnation process and submitted an appraisal of the Klemm property by Steigerwaldt Land Services Co. R. 14, p. 1, P-APP-27. According to the Steigerwaldt appraisal, just comepensation owed by ATC was \$7,750.00. R. 14, p. 1, P-APP-27. With the understanding that ATC wanted to start construction on the line as soon as practical, the Klemms accepted ATC's written offer for the Electric Transmission Line Easement ("Easement") over the Klemm property. R. 14, Ex. 1, P-APP-27. The Easement contained a \$7,750.00 certificate of compensation for the taking. R. 14, Ex. 1, P-APP-34.

The Klemms understood that they could execute the Easement and still contest the amount of the compensation needed to make them whole. R. 14, p. 2, P-APP-28. The Klemms' understanding was based on language in the certificate of compensation that stated in bold type "Notice of Right to Appeal", and included the requirements

for an appeal, and the six month time period in which to commence an appeal. R. 14, Ex 1, P-APP-34.

The Klemms filed a timely Notice of Appeal and Petition pursuant to Wis. Stat. §32.06(2a). R. 1, P-APP-5-13. After a hearing, the county condemnation commission awarded the Klemms the sum of \$10,000.00. R. 14, Ex., P-APP-14-15. This sum exceeded ATC's highest written offer by \$2,250.00 and was more than 15% of the offer.

Subsequently ATC and the Klemms negotiated a settlement. R. 14, Ex. 3, P-APP-37-38. The settlement provided that neither party would appeal the condemnation commission's award. R. 14, Ex. 3, P-APP-37-38. In exchange, the Klemms were to receive \$30,000.00 and the parties would litigate whether the Klemms were entitled to litigation expenses, pursuant to Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d). R. 14, Ex. 3, P-APP-37-38.

On Klemms' motion for litigation expenses, the circuit court determined that the Klemms were entitled to litigation expenses under Wis. Stat. §32.28. R. 18, P-APP-83-89. Subsequently the parties stipulated to an order for final judgment which included a sum representing reasonable attorney fees. R. 19, R. 20, R. 21, P-APP-113-115.

ATC subsequently appealed the circuit court's decision awarding litigation expenses. The Court of Appeals, District III, in a published opinion, reversed the circuit court's decision, holding that litigation expenses are not available under Wis.

Stat. §32.28(3)(d) unless the condemnor has made a jurisdictional offer. Thus, since ATC did not make a jurisdictional offer, the Klemms were not entitled to litigation expenses. *Klemm v. American Transmission Co.*, LLC, 2010 WI App 131, 791 N.W.2d 233. P-APP-1-4.

The Klemms' petition for review to this Court was granted pursuant to Wis. Stat. §808.10.

STATUTE INVOLVED

- **32.28 Costs.** (1) In this section, "litigation expenses" means the sum of the costs, disbursements and expenses, including reasonable attorney, appraisal and engineering fees necessary to prepare for or participate in actual or anticipated proceedings before the condemnation commissioners, board of assessment or any court under this chapter.
- (2) Except as provided in sub. (3), costs shall be allowed under ch. 814 in any action brought under this chapter. If the amount of just compensation found by the court or commissioners of condemnation exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer, the condemnee shall be deemed the successful party under s. 814.02 (2).
- (3) In lieu of costs under ch. 814, litigation expenses shall be awarded to the condemnee if:
 - (a) The proceeding is abandoned by the condemnor;
- (b) The court determines that the condemnor does not have the right to condemn part or all of the property described in the jurisdictional offer or there is no necessity for its taking;
 - (c) The judgment is for the plaintiff in an action under s. 32.10;
- (d) The award of the condemnation commission under s. 32.05 (9) or 32.06 (8) exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer by at least \$700 and at least 15% and neither party appeals the award to the circuit court;
- (e) The jury verdict as approved by the court under s. 32.05 (11) exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer by at least \$700 and at least 15%;
- (f) The condemnee appeals an award of the condemnation commission which exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer by at least \$700 and at least 15%, if the jury verdict as approved by the court under s. 32.05 (10) or 32.06 (10) exceeds the award of the condemnation commission by at least \$700 and at least 15%;

- (g) The condemnor appeals the award of the condemnation commission, if the jury verdict as approved by the court under s. 32.05 (10) or 32.06 (10) exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer by at least \$700 and at least 15%;
- (h) The condemnee appeals an award of the condemnation commission which does not exceed the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer by 15%, if the jury verdict as approved by the court under s. 32.05 (10) or 32.06 (10) exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer by at least \$700 and at least 15%; or
- (i) The condemnee appeals an assessment of damages and benefits under s. 32.61 (3), if the judgment is at least \$700 and at least 15% greater than the award made by the city.

ARGUMENT

A CONDEMNEE IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF LITIGATION EXPENSES UNDER WIS. STAT. §32.28 WHEN THE CONDEMNEE ACCEPTS AN OFFER DURING NEGOTIATIONS PRIOR TO THE JURISDICTIONAL OFFER

To Ascertain The Meaning Of The Plain Language Of Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) The Court Must Consider Chapter 32 As A Whole

The Court of Appeals held that litigation expenses are not available under Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) unless the condemnor has made a jurisdictional offer. This conclusion is based upon the "plain language" of Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d). According to the Court of Appeals, "The use of the article 'the' anticipates that there is, in fact, a jurisdictional offer" as a condition precedent to the recovery of litigation expenses. *Klemm*, 2010 WI App 131, ¶10, P-APP-3.

In contrast, a line of cases from this Court emphasizes that, "Plain meaning may be ascertained not only from the words employed in the statute, but also from the context in which the words are used." *Brunton v. Nuvell Credit Corp.*, 2010 WI 50,

¶16, 325 Wis.2d 135, 785 N.W.2d 302. [Other citations omitted]. This Court in *Brunton* further explained,

In construing a statute, we favor a construction that fulfills the purpose of the statute over one that undermines that purpose. City Of Dane v. LIRC, 2009 WI 9, $\P34$, 315 Wis.2d 293, 759 N.W.2d 571. '[A] plain-meaning interpretation cannot contravene a textually or contextually manifest statutory purpose.' Kalal, 271 Wis.2d 633, $\P49$, 681 N.W.2d 110. While extrinsic sources are usually not consulted if the statutory meaning is plain, legislative history may be consulted 'to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation.' Id., $\P51$ 2010 WI 50, \P 17.

In State, ex rel. v. Rupinski, 2007 WI App 4, ¶14, 297 Wis.2d 749, 728 N.W.2d

1, the Court of Appeals stated this principle in a somewhat different fashion,

Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute itself. *Alberte v. Anew Health Care Servs.*, *Inc.*, 2000 WI 7, ¶10, 232, Wis.2d 587, 605 N.W.2d 515. Courts, however, must not examine a portion of a statute in isolation ignoring the overall intent of the statutory scheme. *Id.* Courts have 'some scope for adopting a restricted rather than a literal or usual meaning of its words where acceptance of that meaning...would thwart the obvious purpose of the statute.' *Id.* (citations omitted). 'When a literal interpretation produces absurd or unreasonable results, or results that are clearly at odds with the legislature's intent, "our task is to give some alternative meaning" to the words,' *Id.* (citation omitted), consistent with the reasonably ascertained intent.

In the context of analyzing the words "reasonable and necessary attorney fees" in Wis. Stat. §32.28 the Court stated in *Standard Theatres, Inc. v. State of Wisconsin Department of Transportation, Division of Highways,* 118 Wis.2d 730, 740, 349 N.W.2d 661 (1984), as follows:

When this court looks to the language of section 32.28, Stat., the statute must be interpreted on the basis of the plain meaning of its terms. *State v. Derenne*, 102 Wis.2d 38, 45, 306 N.W.2d 12 (1981). If the meaning of the language utilized is clear and unambiguous on its face, then it is improper to turn to extrinsic aids to determine the meaning intended. *Id. See also, State v. Tollefson*, 85 Wis.2d 162, 167, 270 N.W.2d 201 (1978). Also, the intent of a section of a statute must be derived from the act as a whole. *Id.*

More recently, in an examination of Wis. Stat. §32.09(6), this Court explained,

When we interpret a statute, we rely on the criteria set out in *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. In *Kalal*, we explained that "[T]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect. *Id at* ¶44.

Context is also important when determining the plain meaning of a statute, as is the purpose of the statute and its scope, if those qualities can be ascertained from the language of the statute itself. *Id.*, ¶¶ 46-48. These are all intrinsic sources for statutory interpretation. *Id.* However, if statutory language is ambiguous, we often consult extrinsic sources such as legislative history. *Id.* at ¶48. *Spiegelberg v. State of Wisconsin and Department of Transportation*, 2006 WI 75, ¶17, 291 Wis.2d 601, 717 N.W.2d 641.

Accordingly, to discern the plain meaning of Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) the Court may consider its purpose, statutory plan, and context. Legislative history should be consulted to verify the plain meaning of the language.

The Lower Courts' Contradictory Constructions Of Wis. Stat. §32.28 Establish Ambiguity

The Klemms acknowledge, and the Court of Appeals noted, "Nor do they [Klemms] contend the language is ambiguous." 2010 WI App 131 ¶12. However, the circuit court concluded with respect to Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d):

The plain language of the statute [Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d)] makes litigation expenses available under both of the litigation scenarios discussed above--both petitions under sub. (7) [Wis. Stat. §32.06(7)] and appeals under (2a) [Wis. Stat. §32.06(2a)].

R. 18, p. 3, P-APP-85.

According to the Court of Appeals, "Instead, our focus is on the plain language of the statute." *Klemm*, 2010 WI App 131 ¶10. The Court of Appeals later determined, "First, because we do not deem the statute's language ambiguous, it

would be improper to alter its plain meaning through liberal construction." *Id.* at ¶ 12. While reaching the dramatically opposite conclusion of the circuit court, the Court of Appeals stated, "We cannot ignore the statute's plain language." *Id.* at ¶ 13.

It is apparent based upon the differing interpretations placed upon Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) by the learned circuit court and Court of Appeals that there is ambiguity in the statute because reasonable persons disagree as to its meaning. This Court acknowledged this principle in *Standard Theatres, Inc.*, 118 Wis.2d at 740, citing *Aero Auto Parts, Inc. v. Dept. Of Transportation.*, 78 Wis.2d 235, 238-39, 253 N.W.2d 896 (1977) as follows:

As this court has acknowledged, the threshold question to be addressed by this court when construing a statute is whether the statutory term is ambiguous. *State v. Engler*, 80 Wis.2d 402, 406, 259 N.W.2d 97 (1977). A statutory term is ambiguous if reasonable persons could disagree as to its meaning. *Kollasch v. Adamany*, 104 Wis.2d 552, 561, 313 N.W.2d 47 (1981). However, this court has also recognized that whenever a case such as this reaches the court, parties obviously disagree as to a statute's meaning. Therefore, the court must look to the language of the statute itself to determine whether well-informed persons should have become confused.

Accordingly, this Court needs to examine the entire Chapter including Wis. Stat. §32.06 along with the provisions of Wis. Stat. §32.28.

The Statutory Context Of Chapter 32 Supports The Conclusion That A Jurisdictional Offer Is Not Required For Litigation Expenses To Be Awarded

Statutes are to be construed *in pari materia*, together with related statutes on the same subject. *Pulsfus Poultry Farms, Inc. v. Town of Leeds*, 149 Wis.2d 797, 804, 440 N.W.2d 329 (1989).

This Court in Standard Theatres discussed the policy underlying Chapter 32,

When we consider the policy behind ch. 32, which is to justly compensate the condemnee for any lands taken by the condemnor by the condemnor's exercise of the power of eminent domain, the position taken by the state is unreasonable. When the owner is deprived of property against his or her will, it is obvious that the owner is not justly compensated for his or her property if the owner must initially be forced to litigate in order to obtain full value of the land, and then must pay for his or her attorney fees from this full value. The attorneys fees incurred here were, after all, necessitated by the owner's attempt to get the fair value of the owner's real estate. Therefore, one must start from the premise that the owner is to be compensated for the attorneys fees. In other words, the purpose behind the statute is to make the owner 'whole' through compensating the owner for the value of the property taken and for the attorney fees it occurred in attempting to obtain this value. 118 Wis.2d. 730, 744-45.

This matter began, as all condemnations begin, with the condemnor obtaining an appraisal of the property to be taken. Wis. Stat. §32.06(2). The property owner then had the option to obtain another appraisal. Wis. Stat. §32.06(2) states:

If the owner does not accept a negotiated offer under sub. (2a) or the jurisdictional offer under sub. (3), the owner may use an appraisal prepared under this paragraph in any subsequent appeal.

Once the appraisals have been obtained, the negotiations begin.

Before making the jurisdictional offer under sub. (3) the condemnor shall attempt to negotiate personally with the owner or one of the owners ... of the property sought to be taken for the purchase of the same. Wis. Stat. §32.06(2a).

If the property owner executes a conveyance at this point, it is filed with the register of deeds along with a certificate of compensation. Wis. Stat. §32.06(2a).

The property owner is then authorized to commence litigation concerning just compensation as the Klemms did in this case. Wis. Stat. §32.06(2a) states in relevant part:

... Any person named in the certificate may, within 6 months after the date of its recording, appeal from the amount of compensation therein stated by filing a

petition with the judge of the circuit court of the county in which the property is located for proceedings to determine the amount of just compensation.... The judge shall forthwith assign the matter to the chairman of the county condemnation commissioners for hearing under sub. (8). The procedures prescribed under subs. (9) (a) and (b), (10) and (12), and chs. 808 and 809 shall govern such appeals. The date the conveyance is recorded shall be treated as the date of taking and the date of evaluation. Italics added.

The circuit court reviewed the two alternate routes to reach the condemnation commission. As the circuit court explained,

[I]f negotiations do not result in an agreement, then the next step is for the condemnor to make a jurisdictional offer. Wis. Stat. §32.06(3). If the offer is accepted, then the amount offered will be paid and title will be conveyed; in that instance, no further litigation is contemplated. Wis. Stat. §32.06(6). But if the offer is not accepted, then the condemnor may petition the court to determine the amount of such compensation, and the judge will 'assign the matter to the chairperson of the county condemnation commissioners for a hearing under s. 32.08.' Wis. Stat. §32.06(7).

Regardless of which method is used to commence the just compensation litigation -- an appeal under sub. (2a) or a petition under sub. (7) -- the result is a condemnation commission hearing under §32.08. In other words, the statutory condemnation procedure offers two different routes to the same destination...

R. 18, pp. 2-3. P-APP-84-85.

The circuit court emphasized in its decision that Wis. Stat. §32.06(8) begins with "[t]hereafter the commission shall proceed," regardless of how the litigation came to the commission. The circuit court then concluded: "Thus, a commission hearing based on an unaccepted jurisdictional offer is as much a hearing under §32.06(8) as is a hearing based on an appeal from an agreed price." R. 18, p. 3. P-APP-85.

After the condemnation commission renders its decision, the issue of litigation expenses arises. Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) provides that litigation expenses are awarded when:

The **award of the condemnation commission under ...s. 32.06(8)** exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer by at least \$700 and at least 15% and neither party appeals the award to the circuit court. (Bold added).

In sum, reading in context Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d), under either Wis. Stat. §32.06(2a) or Wis. Stat. §32.06(7), a property owner who is successful before the condemnation commission pursuant to Wis. Stat. §32.06(8), is entitled to litigation expenses.

Construing Wis. Stat. §32.28(3)(d) To Require A
Jurisdictional Offer As The Only Way A Condemnee
Is Entitled To Litigation Expenses Makes Other
Language Of The Statute Surplusage

Statutes are to be construed, if possible, to avoid making any statutory language superfluous. *Associated Hospital Service v. Milwaukee*, 13 Wis.2d 447, 463, 109 N.W.2d 271 (1961). The Court of Appeal's construction that a jurisdictional offer is a prerequisite for an award of litigation costs makes the language "or highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer" surplusage. This language appears repeatedly in subsections (3)(d), (3)(e), (3)(f) and (3)(g). Wis. Stat. §32.28 states in relevant part:

- (3) In lieu of costs under ch. 814, litigation expenses shall be awarded to the condemnee if:
- (a) The proceeding is abandoned by the condemnor;

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