RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **03-21-2011** SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

MARK KLEMM AND JEANNE KLEMM.

Appeal No. 2009AP2784

Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners,

Circuit Court Case No.

2008CV432

V.

AMERICAN TRANSMISSION COMPANY LLC,

Defendant-Appellant.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT AMERICAN TRANSMISSION COMPANY LLC

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Marathon County, The Honorable Gregory Huber, Presiding

> AXLEY BRYNELSON, LLP Steven M. Streck (SBN 1013070) Sara K. Beachy (SBN 1068648) Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant American Transmission Company LLC

2 East Mifflin Street, Suite 200

Post Office Box 1767

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

Based on this language, the Klemms argue that all of the rights in Chapter 32 apply to appeals from a negotiated purchase price, including the right to recover litigation expenses under § 32.28(3)(d). (See Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners' Brief ("Klemm Br.") at 20.)

However, *Dorschner* is inapplicable for at least three reasons. First, litigation expenses under § 32.28 were not before the court in *Dorschner*. The only issue was whether Wis. Stat. § 32.05(11)(a) authorized the condemnor to recover the amount of compensation it overpaid to the condemnee. *See Dorschner*, 183 Wis. 2d at 238. Litigation expenses and compensation are separate and distinct concepts. Section 32.05(11)(a), and its counterpart § 32.06(10)(b), are irrelevant here.

Second, *Dorschner* interpreted the condemnation procedures in § 32.05, which differ materially from the procedure in § 32.06. The differences make meaningful comparison difficult. For example, the holding in *Dorschner* is based in part on language in Wis. Stat. § 32.05(2a) that does not appear in Wis. Stat. § 32.06(2a). *See id.* at 242-43 (noting that § 32.05(2a) provides that for purposes of appeal, "the amount of compensation stated in the conveyance shall be treated as the award…"). Thus, it is doubtful whether *Dorschner* has any application in § 32.06 cases.

Finally, unlike here, the condemnor in *Dorschner* sought to apply a subsection that was expressly incorporated under the negotiated agreement provisions in Wis. Stat. § 32.05(2a). Section 32.05(2a) provides: "Any person named in the conveyance may...appeal from the amount of compensation...in the manner set forth in [§ 32.05] subs. (9) to (12)." *See* Wis. Stat. § 32.05(2a); *cf.* Wis. Stat. § 32.06(2a). In *Dorschner*, the condemnor sought to apply sub. (11), which was one of the subsections incorporated into § 32.05(2a). In contrast, the Klemms seek to apply Wis. Stat. § 32.28, which is *not* incorporated or mentioned in § 32.06(2a).

In sum, Wis. Stat. § 32.06(10)(b), *Dorschner* and the other statutes discussed therein are not relevant here.

H. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Wis. Stat. § 32.28(2) or § 814.02.

Amici curiae, consisting of several attorneys who routinely represent owners in condemnation litigation, filed two briefs with this Court. In one of their briefs, amici curiae argue that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) conflicts with Wis. Stat. §§ 32.28(2) and 814.02. (*See* Br. of Amicus Curiae in Support of Petition for

Review at 9.) Wis. Stat. § 814.02 makes discretionary statutory costs generally available, while § 32.28(2) makes litigation expenses and statutory costs available to certain classes of condemnees. There is no conflict here.

Section 32.28(2) states:

(2) Except as provided in sub. (3), costs shall be allowed under ch. 814 in any action brought under this chapter. If the amount of just compensation found by the court or commissioners of condemnation exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer, the condemnee shall be deemed the successful party under s. 814.02 (2)

Amici argue that if this subsection is interpreted pursuant to the Court of Appeals' decision here, owners like the Klemms would not be entitled to statutory costs. This conclusion, amici curiae assert, "obviously conflicts with the general rules of civil procedure found in Chapter 814." (*Id.*) However, there is no conflict here.

First, statutes are not presumed to be in conflict, and courts must make every effort to harmonize them. *See, e.g., State v. Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, ¶ 24, 322 Wis. 2d 265, 778 N.W.2d 629; *State Dept. of Corrections v. Schwarz*, 2005 WI 34, ¶ 28, 279 Wis. 2d 223, 693 N.W.2d 703. When "confronted with an apparent conflict between statutes," courts must "construe sections on the same subject matter to

harmonize the provisions and to give each full force and effect." *Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, ¶ 24; *see also Bingenheimer v. Wis. Dep't of Health & Soc. Servs.*, 129 Wis. 2d 100, 107-08, 383 N.W.2d 898 (1986).

It is a cardinal rule that "conflicts between different statutes, by implication or otherwise, are not favored and will not be held to exist if they may otherwise be reasonably construed" in a manner that serves each statute's purpose. *Town of Clayton v. Cardinal Const. Co., Inc.*, 2009 WI App 54, ¶ 14, 317 Wis. 2d 424, 435, 767 N.W. 2d 605 (internal citations omitted).

In this case, §§ 32.28(2) and 814.02 can be reasonably construed in a manner that serves each statute's purpose. The first sentence of § 32.28(2) provides: "Except as provided in sub. (3), costs shall be allowed under ch. 814 in any action brought under this chapter." This sentence, together with the reference to § 814.02(2) in the next sentence, makes clear that § 814.02(2) applies to condemnation proceedings. Section 814.02(2) makes statutory costs and disbursements available "to any party, in whole or in part, in the discretion of the court..." Wis. Stat. § 814.02(2).

Sections 32.28(2) and 32.28(3) modify the application of § 814.02(2) such that costs are no longer discretionary under some circumstances. Section 32.28(2) provides that the condemnee "shall be deemed the successful party" if "the amount of just compensation found by the court or commissioners of condemnation exceeds the jurisdictional offer or the highest written offer prior to the jurisdictional offer." Thus, the treatment of the condemnee as the successful party is mandatory, not discretionary, under those circumstances. In addition, § 32.28(3) identifies additional circumstances in which litigation expenses "shall be awarded" to the condemnee in lieu of statutory costs. See Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3). The award of costs or litigation longer discretionary expenses under those circumstances.

However, courts still retain discretionary authority under Wis. Stat. § 814.02(2) to award costs under *other* circumstances. Namely, courts retain discretion to award costs to an owner who successfully appeals from an Agreed Price transaction under Wis. Stat. § 32.06(2a). Thus, the

Court of Appeals' interpretation of § 32.28(3)(d) does not conflict with § 32.28(2) or Chapter 814.

I. <u>Liberal construction does not negate the Court's duty to apply the law as written.</u>

Both the Klemms and the circuit court stress that courts are to "liberally construe statutory provisions regarding compensation for eminent domain takings to favor the property owner." *D.S.G. Evergreen*, 2007 WI App 115, ¶ 12. This principle was a significant factor in the circuit court's decision to grant litigation expenses to the Klemms. (*See* R. 18 at 6; P-App. 15.) However, the Court of Appeals properly declined to apply this principle here.

As a preliminary matter, litigation expenses are not "just compensation." *See* Wis. Stat. § 32.09; *see also Wieczorek v. Franklin*, 82 Wis. 2d 19, 23, 260 N.W.2d 650 (1978); *Martineau v. State Conservation Comm'n*, 54 Wis. 2d 76, 85, 194 N.W.2d 664 (1972); *Warehouse II*, 2006 WI 62, ¶ 37 (J. Abrahamson, dissenting).

Wisconsin courts have long held that the constitutional requirement of "just compensation" does not compel the condemnor to pay attorney's fees in eminent domain proceedings. W.H. Pugh Coal Co. v. State, 157 Wis. 2d 620,

634-35, 460 N.W.2d 787 (Wis. App. 1990); Leathem Smith Lodge, Inc. v. State, 94 Wis. 2d 406, 420, 288 N.W.2d 808 (1980); Wieczorek, 82 Wis. 2d at 23.

The allowance of attorney's fees in condemnation cases "is a matter of policy to be determined by the legislature and not a matter of constitutional right." *Leathem Smith*, 94 Wis. 2d at 420; *Wieczorek*, 82 Wis. 2d at 23. Thus, the Court's sole task is to interpret Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) and related statutes as written. The Court of Appeals properly did so here.

Moreover, the "liberally construe" approach alone is a principle without meaningful boundaries. In construing or interpreting a statute, "the court is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute." *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46; *State v. Pratt*, 36 Wis. 2d 312, 317, 153 N.W.2d 18 (1967). The court's first duty is to apply the law as written. *See In re Commitment of Smith (State v. Smith)*, 229 Wis. 2d 720, 730, 600 N.W.2d 258 (Ct. App. 1999). Application of the plain meaning of § 32.28 therefore does not depend on whether the interpretation of the statute is based on a strict or

liberal construction. See D.S.G. Evergreen, 2007 WI App 115, \P 14.

Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) is not ambiguous. Therefore, the Court of Appeals concluded, it would be "improper to alter its plain meaning through liberal construction." *Klemm*, 2010 WI App 131, ¶ 12. Liberal construction does not authorize courts to create new provisions to benefit owners when the legislature has expressly declined to do so. Liberal construction cannot justify contorting the plain language and history of a statute to resolve every debated issue in favor of owners. Liberal construction does not negate the Court's first duty to apply the law as written.

J. To the extent the Klemms raise valid public policy concerns, those concerns are properly addressed to the legislature.

In their briefing here and in the courts below, the Klemms have advanced various policy arguments as to why they should be permitted to recover their litigation expenses. Foremost among them is that owners should not be penalized for cooperating, while antagonistic owners have the opportunity to recover litigation expenses. While this argument has emotional and political appeal, it is contrary to

the negotiation provisions contained in Chapter 32 and other public policy considerations. Regardless, to the extent that the Klemms raise valid public policy concerns, those concerns are more appropriately addressed to the legislature.

The Court of Appeals rejected the Klemms' policy arguments, summarizing:

[H]ad the Klemms initially negotiated a price they were satisfied with, there would have been substantially less delay, no need for a jurisdictional offer, and no unnecessary litigation. While the Klemms' conveyance allowed prompt entry, a condemnor who proceeds with a jurisdictional offer need not wait until the conclusion of the proceedings to enter into possession. See Wis. Stat. § 32.12 ("At any stage of the proceedings the court in which they are pending may authorize the person, if in possession, to continue in possession, and if not in possession to take possession and have and use the lands during the pendency of the proceedings."). Further, the route the Klemms used to arrive before the condemnation commission is not significantly less burdensome or time-consuming for a condemnor than the alternative route involving an appeal from a jurisdictional offer. Indeed, because an owner may appeal an agreed price up to six months later, that route might easily be the slower of the two. Moreover, the Klemms' route might be viewed as more burdensome to the condemnor, who believes the matter has already been resolved.

Klemm, 2010 WI App 131, ¶ 13 n.7 (emphasis in original).

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that condemnees will not be "made whole" under the holding in this case. *Id.* at \P 13. While "these policy arguments certainly have

appeal," the court found, "they are properly directed to the legislature, not the courts." *Id*.

II. IF THE COURT FINDS THAT WIS. STAT. § 32.28(3)(D) APPLIES HERE, THE COURT MUST SELECT AN EVENT ANALOGOUS TO THE JURISDICTIONAL OFFER, AFTER WHICH EXPENSES ARE RECOVERABLE.

Even if the Court finds that Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) applies in this case, the Klemms cannot necessarily recover all of their expenses. The Klemms are not entitled to litigation expenses incurred prior to the need to "prepare for or participate in actual or anticipated proceedings before the condemnation commission." *See* Wis. Stat. § 32.28(1); *see also D.S.G. Evergreen*, 2007 WI App at ¶ 17; *Kluenker*, 109 Wis. 2d at 606.

Wisconsin courts have found that the date that satisfies this requirement is the jurisdictional offer. *See D.S.G. Evergreen*, 2007 WI App 115, ¶ 14 (expenses incurred prior to jurisdictional offer not recoverable under Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(a)); *Dairyland Power*, 110 Wis. 2d at 380-81 (expenses prior to jurisdictional offer not recoverable under Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d)); *Kluenker*, 109 Wis. 2d at 607 (expenses prior to jurisdictional offer not recoverable under

Wis. Stat. § 32.28(1)). Thus, if this Court decides that Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) applies here, the Court will be required to choose some date or event that is analogous to a jurisdictional offer.

Because the Court of Appeals found that the plain text of Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) precluded award of litigation expenses under the circumstances here, it was not necessary for the court to address the issue of when litigation expenses began to accrue for the Klemms.

The circuit court found that the point at which proceedings may be "anticipated" within the meaning of § 32.28(1) is the point when some "official completive action" has occurred, "by which the condemnee can be certain of the condemnor's position." (P-App. 87.) The circuit concluded that in an appeal under § 32.06(2a), that point occurs

when the parties agree on a price and the condemnor records the conveyance and the certificate of compensation; from that point, the condemnee has 6 months to file an appeal; at that point, proceedings before the commission can be anticipated.

(P-App. 87.) The court acknowledged that the recording of the conveyance and the recording of the certificate of compensation could happen at different times. (P-App. 87,

n.2.) Nonetheless, the circuit court allowed expenses beginning with the recording of the certificate of compensation. (*See* P-App. 87.)

In reality, no "official completive action" occurred here by which anyone could be certain of ATC's position. Because the Klemms did not provide an appraisal or other meaningful information to ATC until long after the Klemms appealed from the negotiated agreement, there was never a point at which ATC could take a clear position that it would offer a certain sum and no more. The initial offer is the only event under § 32.06(2a) that remotely resembles a "jurisdictional offer." Yet use of the initial offer as the triggering event is problematic for the host of reasons discussed earlier. At the point of the initial offer, the condemnor has only limited information upon which to base an offer. The condemnor has had no opportunity to consider additional information, such as the owner's own appraisal, and revise the initial offer. This is akin to imposing prejudgment interest on a party based on the party's initial demand letter rather than a more informed statutory

settlement offer, which typically takes place later in the litigation process and after discovery has occurred.

Setting aside the policy dimensions of use of various dates, the only "official completive action" identified in Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) is a jurisdictional offer.

If this Court reverses the Court of Appeals' decision, the Court will be required to select a date that is analogous to a jurisdictional offer, prior to which the Klemms could not incur expenses "necessary to prepare for or participate in actual or anticipated" proceedings before the commission. Several dates might be selected: the date of signing the Easement, the date the Easement was recorded, the date when the Klemms subjectively knew they did not agree with the compensation offered by ATC (whether before or after the date they signed the Easement), the date the Klemms filed their appeal, or the date that preparation for the proceedings before the condemnation commission actually commenced. Whatever date the Court selects, it must be consistent with Wis. Stat. § 32.28(1) and the holdings of D.S.G. Evergreen, Dairyland Power, and Kluenker. However, the only triggering event identified in Wis. Stat. § 32.28(3)(d) is a jurisdictional offer. Selecting any other date or event will amount to rewriting the statute.

III. THE KLEMMS HAVE WAIVED ANY ARGUMENT RELATING TO THE IMPACT OF THIS HOLDING ON CASES ARISING UNDER WIS. STAT. § 32.05.

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